STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs

Michigan Supreme Court No. 156406

JOEL EUSEVIO DAVIS,
Defendant-Appellee.

Court of Appeals No.	332081
Circuit Court No.	15-005481-01-FH

On Appeal from the Court of Appeals
Gleicher, P.J., and M.J. Kelly and Shapiro, JJ.

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON APPEAL
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

KYM WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

JASON W. WILLIAMS
Chief of Research, Training,
and Appeals

AMANDA MORRIS SMITH (P73127)
Assistant Prosecuting Attorney
1441 St. Antoine, 11th Floor
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 224-5787

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Plaintiff-appellant appeals from the July 13, 2017 published per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals affirming defendant's conviction for assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder, but vacating his conviction for aggravated domestic assault. On August 31, 2017, the People filed a timely application for leave to appeal, which this Court granted on May 4, 2018. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1).

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I

Under the abstract legal elements test, two convictions arising out of the same incident do not violate double jeopardy if each crime requires proof of an element the other does not. Here, defendant was found guilty of aggravated domestic assault, which required proof beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant assaulted a domestic partner causing serious physical injury, elements that were not required to be proven for his conviction of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder. Did defendant's convictions offend double jeopardy?

The People answer, "No."

Defendant would answer, "Yes."

The circuit court was not asked this question.

The Court of Appeals answered, "No."

II

When the Legislature states that a defendant may be convicted under multiple statutes for crimes arising out of the same conduct, the Court must abide by the plain language of the statute, not on some imagined "legislative purpose" lurking behind the language. Here, MCL 750.84(3) expressly states that a defendant may be charged with *any other violation of law* arising out of the same conduct. Did the Legislature intend for defendant to be convicted under both MCL 750.84 and MCL 750.81a and must an interpretation of these statutes that attempts to divine the "true" legislative purpose behind same fail?

The People answer, "Yes."

Defendant would answer, "No."

The circuit court was not asked this question.

The Court of Appeals would answer, "No."

III

A court errs when it *sua sponte* adopts a minority rule that has thus far only been applied in out-of-state jurisdictions and then proceeds to misapply same to the case before it. Here, the Court of Appeals declared—without notice to the parties and without the issue being raised on appeal—that it would adopt and apply the rule against mutually exclusive verdicts to the instant case, despite the fact that the rule is only recognized in a handful of states and despite the fact that the rule conflicts with Michigan jurisprudence. Did the Court of Appeals reversibly err when it recognized this rule in Michigan?

The People answer, “Yes.”

Defendant would answer, “No.”

The circuit court was not asked this question.

The Court of Appeals would answer, “No.”

IV

Offenses are mutually exclusive when a guilty verdict on one offense necessarily excludes a finding of guilt on another. Here, after defendant repeatedly assaulted the victim, he was charged with and convicted of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder and aggravated domestic assault, crimes which are comprised of different elements, including distinct mental states. Because defendant’s convictions were not mutually exclusive, did the Court of Appeals reversibly err when it found to the contrary?

The People answer, “Yes.”

Defendant would answer, “No.”

The circuit court was not asked this question.

The Court of Appeals would answer, “No.”

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises from defendant Joel Davis' conviction by jury of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder¹ and aggravated domestic assault.² The facts are as follows:

At around 4:00 a.m. on June 10, 2015, 29-year-old Shawna Shelton lay sleeping in bed when defendant, her live-in boyfriend, suddenly burst into the room and asked where the ashtray was. (1a-3a). Shelton, who avoided making eye contact with defendant, responded that she did not know. Defendant began yelling that Shelton was being disrespectful by not looking at him, grabbed her shirt, yanked her off of the bed, and "threw" her onto the floor. (5a). Defendant hit Shelton—hard—two or three times in the face and head while she yelled at him to stop. (4a-5a). The force of the physical assault was such that Shelton later testified that she had "never felt that much pain" before. (5a).

Shelton got up and ran into the nearby living room, whereupon defendant charged her and hit her "very hard" two times in the face. (6a). Shelton felt blood "draining" after defendant hit her nose, felt her mouth filling with blood, and could not see out of her left eye, which had swollen shut. (6a-7a). Shelton screamed for defendant to stop hitting her and yelled for help. (17a-18a). Defendant yelled at Shelton to shut up, telling her that she was going to make him have to kill her. (7a). Shelton, who stood only 5'1 compared to defendant, who was 6'2 or taller, was scared for her life. (8a).

After defendant calmed down, Shelton ran to the bathroom, opened her mouth, and saw blood come out. When Shelton exited the bathroom, defendant was gone, as was her 2001 black Jeep Cherokee, which she had not given him permission to take. Missing from Shelton's purse

¹ MCL 750.84.

² MCL 750.81a.

were her cellular telephone, \$400.00 in cash, and her keys. (9a-10a). Shelton put on a clean shirt and knocked on the doors of multiple neighbors until she found one willing to allow her to use the telephone to call the police. (12a).

Officer Jordan Dotter of the Dearborn Heights Police Department responded to the area and came into contact with Shelton, who was still bleeding, and observed her extensive injuries: her “face was almost unrecognizable,” both of her “eyes were swelled almost shut,” “[h]er lip was severely swollen, and she had a pretty significant bruise on her nose.” (19a). An evidence technician took photographs of Shelton’s “significant” injuries,³ and then Officer Dotter escorted Shelton back to her house. (20a). Although EMS offered to take Shelton to the hospital, she initially declined because she wanted to leave the area since she did not know where defendant had gone to. (13a, 22a). Instead, Shelton went to the police station, where she was later picked up by her mother who took her directly to Southshore Hospital’s emergency room. Once at the hospital, Shelton had a CAT scan and x-rays done, was given pain medication, and was put in a neck brace, which a doctor told her to continue to wear even after she left the hospital. Following the assault, Shelton reported suffering from “extreme pain” in her neck, face, and head. (14a-15a).

On June 12, 2015, defendant stood mute at the arraignment on the warrant on the charge of aggravated domestic assault.⁴ On July 1, 2015, following the preliminary examination, defendant was bound over for trial on that charge, along with the additional charges of assault

³ 23a (Sergeant Gary Voiles testifying that it appeared to him that Shelton had been “severely beaten about the face.”).

⁴ Defendant was charged under MCL 750.81a(3), which elevates the crime of aggravated domestic assault from a 1-year misdemeanor to a five-year felony if there is a previous conviction for assault or assault and battery perpetrated against a domestic partner.

with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder, unlawful driving away of a motor vehicle,⁵ and larceny of personal property \$200.00 to \$1,000.00.⁶

On July 8, 2015, defendant stood mute at the arraignment on the information and a not guilty plea was entered on his behalf. The following year, after a two-day jury trial, defendant was convicted of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder and aggravated domestic assault.⁷ On March 9, 2016, the court ordered defendant to serve an above-the-guidelines sentence of 69 months to 10 years of imprisonment in the Michigan Department of Corrections for the crime of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder, to be served concurrently with a sentence of 1 to 5 years of imprisonment for the crime of aggravated domestic assault. (29a-31a).

On March 21, 2016, defendant filed a claim of appeal in the Court of Appeals. On November 28, 2016, defendant filed his brief on appeal contending that he was entitled to have his convictions vacated because: (1) the trial court abused its discretion when it allowed the People to admit, at trial, two photographs of the victim wearing a neck brace; and (2) since the crimes of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder and aggravated domestic assault contain conflicting mental states, his convictions for both offenses offended double jeopardy.

On June 14, 2017, the People filed their brief on appeal, contending: (1) that the court had not abused its discretion when it allowed the admission of relevant, probative, photographs of the injured victim at trial; and (2) that, under the *Blockburger*⁸ “same elements” test,

⁵ MCL 750.413.

⁶ MCL 750.356(4)(a).

⁷ The jury acquitted defendant of the remaining charges. (27a-28a).

⁸ *Blockburger v United States*, 284 US 299; 52 SCt 180; 76 LEd2d 306 (1932).

defendant's convictions did not implicate double jeopardy. As part of their second argument section, the People made the following observation in a footnote:

To the extent that defendant intimates that he is entitled to relief because the jury's verdict was inconsistent, that issue is not properly before this Court because it was not raised in defendant's statement of the questions involved. MCR 7.212(C)(5). And if that is, in fact, an argument defendant desired to pursue on appeal, he completely failed to brief it for this Court. "A party who seeks to raise an issue on appeal but who fails to brief it may properly be considered to have abandoned the issue." *People v Smith*, 439 Mich 954; 480 NW2d 908 (1992), citing *Mitcham v City of Detroit*, 355 Mich 182, 203; 94 NW2d 388 (1959). This Court must decline to address this veiled argument for that reason. *People v Miller*, 238 Mich App 168, 172; 604 NW2d 781 (1999) (refusing to consider the defendant's constitutional claim that he failed to present in his statement of questions presented). Nonetheless, it is well-recognized that inconsistent verdicts within a single jury trial do not require reversal. *People v Vaughn*, 409 Mich 463, 466-467; 295 NW2d 354 (1980) ("Juries are not held to any rules of logic nor are they required to explain their decisions). And, in any case, the People disagree that the verdicts in this case were inconsistent: an intent to inflict great bodily harm less than murder merely *distinguishes* the two crimes defendant was convicted of here; it does not prevent the jury from convicting defendant of both offenses. See, e.g., *Doss*, 406 Mich at 99.⁹

On July 13, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a published per curiam opinion finding defendant's arguments regarding the admission of certain photographs at trial to be "meritless." (39a). But the Court of Appeals reframed defendant's second issue on appeal, stating: "We agree that defendant was improperly convicted for a single act under two statutes with contradictory and mutually exclusive provisions. However, the issue is more nuanced than expressed by the defense and double jeopardy is not the proper initial focus." (41a). The Court of Appeals then looked at Michigan jurisprudence regarding inconsistent jury verdicts, but concluded that the instant case did not fit within the confines of that legal analysis. After looking to out-of-state legal authority, the Court of Appeals held that defendant's convictions were such that "a guilty verdict on one count necessarily excludes a finding of guilt on another, rendering the two 'mutually exclusive.'" (43a). Due to the "error" of defendant being convicted of two

⁹ 32a.

mutually exclusive offenses, the Court of Appeals vacated his conviction for aggravated domestic assault. (44a).

On August 31, 2017, the People filed an application for leave from the Court of Appeals' decision, contending that MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 did not contain statutorily mutually exclusive provisions. The People further argued that, even if the statutes were mutually exclusive, defendant's convictions under both were proper because of the particular facts of this case. Defendant did not file a response to the application. On May 4, 2018, this Court granted the People's application and directed the parties to address:

(1) whether the defendant's convictions under MCL 750.81a(3) and MCL 750.84 violate double jeopardy; (2) whether MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 contain contradictory and mutually exclusive provisions such that the Legislature did not intend a defendant to be convicted of both crimes for the same conduct, compare *People v Miller*, 498 Mich 13, 18-26 (2015) with *People v Doss*, 406 Mich 90, 96-99 (1979); (3) whether the Court of Appeals erred in recognizing a rule against mutually exclusive verdicts in Michigan, see generally *United States v Powell*, 469 US 57, 69 n 8 (1984); *State v Davis*, 466 SW3d 49 (Tenn, 2015); and (4) whether the Court of Appeals erred in applying this rule to the facts of this case.¹⁰

The People now proceed on leave granted. Additional facts may be provided *infra*.

¹⁰ *People v Davis*, 910 NW2d 301 (2018).

ARGUMENT

I.

Under the abstract legal elements test, two convictions arising out of the same incident do not violate double jeopardy if each crime requires proof of an element the other does not. Here, defendant was found guilty of aggravated domestic assault, which required proof beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant assaulted a domestic partner causing serious physical injury, elements that were not required to be proven for his conviction of assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder. Defendant's convictions did not offend double jeopardy.

Standard of Review

A double jeopardy challenge normally presents a question of constitutional law which this Court reviews de novo. *People v Calloway*, 469 Mich 448, 450; 671 NW2d 733 (2003). But defendant did not preserve this issue by raising it in the trial court, thereby limiting appellate review to plain error. *People v Meshell*, 265 Mich App 616, 628; 696 NW2d 754 (2005). “To avoid forfeiture under the plain error rule, three requirements must be met: 1) error must have occurred, 2) the error was plain, i.e. clear or obvious, 3) and the plain error affected substantial rights. The third requirement generally requires a showing of prejudice, i.e. that the error affected the outcome of the lower court proceedings.” *People v Carines*, 460 Mich 750, 763; 597 NW2d 130 (1999) (internal citation and citing reference omitted).

Discussion

The Michigan and Federal constitutions are analogous in their prohibition that “[n]o person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy.” Const. 1963, art. 1,

§15; U.S. Const., Am. V.¹¹ “The prohibition against double jeopardy protects individuals in three ways: ‘(1) it protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) it protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.’” *People v Miller*, 498 Mich 13, 19; 869 NW2d 204 (2015), quoting *People v Nutt*, 469 Mich 565, 574; 677 NW2d 1 (2004). Because defendant here was not subject to multiple prosecutions, the multiple punishment strand of double jeopardy is at issue in this case.

“The multiple punishment strand of double jeopardy ‘is designed to ensure that courts confine their sentences to the limits established by the Legislature’ and therefore acts as a ‘restraint on the prosecutor and the Courts.’” *Id.* at 17-18, quoting *People v Mitchell*, 456 Mich 693, 695; 575 NW2d 283 (1998); see also *Brown v Ohio*, 432 US 161, 165; 97 SCt 2221; 53 LEd2d 187 (1977) (“The legislature remains free under the Double Jeopardy Clause to define crimes and fix punishments; but once the legislature has acted courts may not impose more than one punishment for the same offense[.]”). This Court “must first determine whether the statutory language evinces a legislative intent with regard to the permissibility of multiple punishments. If the legislative intent is clear, courts are required to abide by this intent.” *Miller*, 498 Mich at 19, citing *Mitchell*, 456 Mich at 695-696 (explaining that where the legislative intent is clear, “a court’s task of statutory construction is at an end[.]”) (quotation and citing reference omitted). When, however, “legislative intent is not clear, Michigan courts apply the ‘abstract legal elements’ test articulated in *Ream*¹² to ascertain whether the Legislature intended to classify two

¹¹ This Court has “been persuaded in the past that interpretations of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment have accurately conveyed the meaning of Const. 1963, art. 1, §15[.]” *People v Smith*, 478 Mich 292, 302 n 7; 733 NW2d 351 (2007).

¹² *People v Ream*, 481 Mich 223; 750 NW2d 536 (2008).

offenses as the ‘same offense’ for double jeopardy purposes. *Id.*; see also *Smith*, 478 Mich at 315-316 (overruling *People v Robideau*, 419 Mich 458; 355 NW2d 592 (1984) and concluding “that the ‘same elements’ test set forth in *Blockburger* best gives effect to the intentions of the ratifiers of our constitution.”).

A. Because MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 evince a clear legislative intent with regard to the permissibility of multiple punishments, the Court must abide by this intent and find that defendant’s convictions under both statutes do not offend double jeopardy.

Defendant was charged with, convicted by jury of, and sentenced for violating MCL 750.81a, aggravated domestic assault, which is set forth in the statute as follows:

(2) Except as provided in subsection (3), an individual who assaults his or her spouse or former spouse, an individual with whom he or she has or has had a dating relationship, an individual with whom he or she has had a child in common, or a resident or former resident of the same household without a weapon and inflicts serious or aggravated injury upon that individual without intending to commit murder or to inflict great bodily harm less than murder is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by imprisonment for not more than 1 year or a fine of not more than \$1,000.00, or both.¹³

Defendant was also charged with, convicted by jury of, and sentenced for violating MCL 750.84, assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder, which is set forth in the statute as follows:

(1) A person who does...the following is guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment for not more than 10 years or a fine of not more than \$5,000.00, or both:

(a) Assaults another person with intent to do great bodily harm, less than the crime of murder.

[...]

¹³ MCL 750.81a(2). Defendant’s conviction was enhanced under MCL 750.81a(3), because he had a previous qualifying conviction for domestic assault. As a form of short-hand, the People, throughout this brief, will refer to the required domestic relationships described in MCL 750.81a(2) as crimes committed against a “domestic partner” or involving a “domestic relationship.”

(3) This section does not prohibit a person from being charged with, convicted of, or punished for any other violation of law arising out of the same conduct as the violation of this section.¹⁴

Review of the plain language of MCL 750.84 reveals a legislative intent to impose multiple punishments. MCL 750.84(3) expressly provides that a defendant may be charged with, convicted of, and punished for *any other violation of law* arising out of the same conduct that gave rise to the charges brought under MCL 750.84. In *Miller*, 498 Mich at 23-24, this Court held that comparable language, found in MCL 257.625(7)(d), was a “specific authorization [by the Legislature] for multiple punishments[.]”¹⁵ Likewise, in *People v Shipley*, 256 Mich App 367, 378; 662 NW2d 856 (2003), the Court of Appeals held that similar language found in MCL 750.110a(9) was “a clear indication of legislative intent to allow multiple punishment[s]” and, thus, found no violation of double jeopardy for the defendant’s convictions stemming from the larceny of a firearm during a home invasion.¹⁶ See also *People v Conley*, 270 Mich App 301, 311; 715 NW2d 377 (2006) (finding, for the same reason espoused in *Shipley*, that “the Legislature clearly expressed an intent to allow multiple punishments” for a violation of MCL 750.110a(9) and another crime arising out of the same incident); cf *People v Martin*, 271 Mich App 280, 295-296; 721 NW2d 815 (2006) (holding that comparable language in MCL 750.159j(13)¹⁷ “clearly indicate[d] that the Legislature intended racketeering to be a separate and distinct offense, the violation of which may be punished separately from and cumulatively with

¹⁴ MCL 750.84(1)(a), (3).

¹⁵ See MCL 257.625(7)(d): “This subsection does not prohibit a person from being charged with, convicted of, or punished for a violation of subsection (4) or (5) that is committed by the person while violating this subsection.”

¹⁶ MCL 750.110a(9): “Imposition of a penalty under this section does not bar imposition of a penalty under any other applicable law.”

¹⁷ MCL 750.159j(13): “Criminal penalties under this section are not mutually exclusive and do not preclude the application of any other criminal or civil remedy under this section or any other provision of law.”

the underlying predicate offenses.”). Further, the fact that the language contained in MCL 750.84(3) is not repeated in the body of MCL 750.81a does not detract from this conclusion. In *Ream*, this Court explained that the Legislature is under no obligation to “expressly state[] that multiple punishments for specific offenses are permitted[,]” as “neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court has ever adopted such a rule[.]” *Ream*, 481 Mich 238 n 16.

Moreover, neither MCL 750.81a nor MCL 750.84 contains any language restricting the charging, convicting, and sentencing of a defendant simultaneously under both statutes. When the Legislature *does* intend to preclude prosecution under multiple statutes, it “has shown its capability at clearly and expressly” making this intention known. *People v Chambers*, 277 Mich App 1, 9 n 9; 742 NW2d 610 (2007). For example, MCL 750.356c(5) states that a person who commits first-degree retail fraud “shall not be prosecuted under section 218(5) or 356(2).” Likewise, MCL 750.356d(3) and MCL 750.356d(5) bar the People from prosecuting a defendant “under section 360” if he commits second or third-degree retail fraud. Similarly, if a defendant brings a controlled substance to a jail in violation of MCL 801.263(1), he may not also be prosecuted under MCL 801.265 if his actions under MCL 801.263(1) constituted “the delivery, possession with intent to deliver, or possession of or other action involving a controlled substance that is punishable by imprisonment for more than 5 years under” MCL 333.7401 to MCL 333.7461. See MCL 801.265(2).

“Where, as here, a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statutes, regardless of whether those two statutes proscribe the ‘same’ conduct under *Blockburger*, a court’s task of statutory construction is at an end and the prosecution may seek and the trial court or jury may impose cumulative punishment under such statutes in a single trial.” *Missouri v Hunter*, 459 US 359, 368-369; 103 SCt 673; 74 LEd2d 535 (1983); see also

Miller, 498 Mich at 19. Accordingly, defendant’s convictions under MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 did not offend double jeopardy.

B. Assuming, arguendo, that the Legislature’s intent was unclear with regard to multiple punishments, convictions under both MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 do not constitute the “same offense” under the abstract legal elements test articulated in People v Ream.

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