STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from the Court of Appeals
Elizabeth L. Gleicher, P.J., Michael J. Kelly and Douglas B. Shapiro, JJ.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Plaintiff-Appellant,

-vs-

JOEL EUSEVIO DAVIS

Defendant-Appellee.

Supreme Court No. 156406

Court of Appeals No. 332081

Circuit Court No. 15-5481-01

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE'S

BRIEF ON APPEAL

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: JACQUELINE J. McCANN (P58774)
MICHAEL L. MITTLESTAT (P68478)
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee
3300 Penobscot Building
645 Griswold
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 256-9833

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

ARGUMENTS

I. MCL 750.81a and MCL 750.84 contain contradictory and mutually exclusive provisions such that the Legislature did not intend a defendant to be convicted of both crimes for the same conduct. Defendant’s convictions for both thus violate the state and federal constitutional prohibitions on double jeopardy. Neither *United States v Powell* nor *People v Doss* precludes this Court from granting relief.

A. The legislative intent against multiple punishments is demonstrated by the plain language of the statutes.

The Legislature’s intent that a person not be convicted and sentenced for both aggravated domestic assault, MCL 750.81a(2), and assault with intent to commit great bodily harm (AWIGBH), MCL 750.84, for the same acts committed against the same victim is shown by the plain language of the statutes. The statutes contain contradictory and mutually exclusive *mens rea* provisions.

Aggravated domestic assault is statutorily defined in relevant part as an assault causing aggravated injury by a person who acts “*without intending to commit murder or to inflict great bodily harm less than murder.*” MCL 750.81a(2)² (emphasis added). The assault with intent to do great bodily harm less than murder statute of course requires proof that the defendant acted

² In full, MCL 750.81a(2) provides that “[e]xcept as provided in subsection (3), an individual who assaults his or her spouse or former spouse, an individual with whom he or she has or has had a dating relationship, an individual with whom he or she has had a child in common, or a resident or former resident of the same household, without a weapon and inflicts serious or aggravated injury upon that individual without intending to commit murder or to inflict great bodily harm less than murder is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by imprisonment for not more than 1 year or a fine of not more than \$1,000.00, or both.” MCL: 750.81a(3) elevates the offense to a felony punishable by up to five years in prison if the defendant had one or more prior convictions under subsection (2); MCL 750.81 – 750.84 or 750.86; or a law of another state or political subdivision of another state substantially corresponding to the same.

with “*intent to do great bodily harm, less than the crime of murder.*” MCL 750.84 (emphasis added).

The language in MCL 750.84(3) that allows for conviction and punishment for “any other violation of law arising out of the same conduct as the violation of this section,” does not compel a different result. While this phrasing would appear broad, reliance on it falls apart when considered along-side the clear language of MCL 750.81a(1) and (2), that excludes acts committed with the intent to do great bodily harm or with intent to kill from conviction for aggravated domestic assault. In enacting statutes with such diametrically opposed *mens rea* requirements, the Legislature spoke with clarity and the otherwise broad language of MCL 750.84(3) does not support allowing convictions and punishments for offenses involving diametrically opposed mens reas.

This Court has explained that when statutory language is clear, it must be followed:

When interpreting a statute, “our goal is to give effect to the Legislature’s intent, focusing first on the statute’s plain language.” “In so doing, we examine the statute as a whole, reading individual words and phrases in the context of the entire legislative scheme.” “When a statute’s language is unambiguous, ... the statute must be enforced as written. No further judicial construction is required or permitted.” *People v Pinkney*, 501 Mich 259, 268 (2018).

The prosecutor wishes this Court to instead read the language “without intending to commit murder or to inflict great bodily great bodily harm less than murder” out of the aggravated domestic assault statute, and render it mere surplusage or nugatory in contravention of this Court’s well established rules for statutory construction. In *Miller*, at 25, this Court wrote of “our well-recognized rule that we ‘must give effect to every word, phrase, and clause and avoid an interpretation that would render any part of the statute surplusage or nugatory.’” (citation omitted).

B. Because the Legislature did not intend multiple punishments here, allowing both convictions to stand violates the state and federal constitutional prohibitions on Double Jeopardy.

The United States and the Michigan Constitutions provide that no person may be put in jeopardy twice for the same offense. US Const, Ams V,³ XIV⁴; Const 1963, art 1, § 15.⁵ Double jeopardy is composed of a successive prosecution strand and a multiple punishment strand. See *North Carolina v Pearce*, 395 US 711 (1969); *Miller, supra* at 17. This case involves the multiple punishments strand. See *Miller, supra* at 17.

As this Court recently explained in *Miller, supra* at 17-18:

The multiple punishments strand of double jeopardy “is designed to ensure that courts confine their sentences to the limits established by the Legislature” and therefore acts as a “restraint on the prosecutor and the Courts.” The multiple punishments strand is not violated “[w]here ‘a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishment under two statutes....’” Conversely, where the Legislature expresses a clear intention in the plain language of a statute to prohibit multiple punishments, it will be a violation of the multiple punishments strand for a trial court to cumulatively punish a defendant for both offenses in a single trial. “Thus, the question of what punishments are constitutionally permissible is not different from the question of what punishments the Legislative Branch intended to be imposed.” (Footnotes omitted.)

³ US Const, Am V, provides in pertinent part that no person shall “be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb....”

⁴ The Fifth Amendment is applicable to the states through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *People v Ream*, 481 Mich 223, 255 (2008); *Benton v Maryland*, 395 US 784, 795-796 (1969).

⁵ Const 1963, art 1, § 15 provides in pertinent part that “[n]o person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy.”

If the Legislature's intent is clear, the courts must abide by it. Only if the Legislature's intent is not clear, the courts should look to the *Blockburger/Ream*⁶ same elements test.⁷ *Miller, supra* at 19.⁸

As demonstrated above by the plain language of the statutes, the Legislature did not intend multiple punishments here. Because the Legislature did not intend for a defendant to be punished for these two offenses with their contradictory and mutually exclusive mens rea provisions, for the same acts against the same victim it violates the state and federal prohibitions against Double Jeopardy for a person to be convicted and sentenced for aggravated domestic assault and AWIGBH. This Court must dismiss and vacate his aggravated domestic assault conviction, the less serious conviction, and order resentencing on the remaining count. *Miller*, 498 Mich at 26-27.

C. *United States v Powell* and *People v Doss* do not compel a different result.

In *United States v Powell*, 469 US 57, 69 n 8; 105 US 471; 83 L Ed 2d 461 (1984), while holding that generally inconsistent jury verdicts should not be disturbed on appeal, the US Supreme Court left open the possibility that a defendant is entitled to relief where he is convicted of two crimes that are mutually exclusive.

⁶ *Blockburger v US*, 284 US 299, 304, 52 SCt 180, 76 LEd 306 (1932); *People v Ream*, 481 Mich 223 (2008).

⁷ It is not a violation of double jeopardy to convict a defendant of multiple offenses if "each of the offenses for which defendant was convicted has an element that the other does not...." This means that, under the *Blockburger/Ream* test, two offenses will only be considered the "same offense" where it is impossible to commit the greater offense without also committing the lesser offense. *Miller, supra* at 19-20.

⁸ This Court's one-paragraph order in *People v Strawther*, 480 Mich 900 (2007), which only looked to the *Blockburger* test in holding that felonious assault and AWIGBH convictions did not constitute double jeopardy, without analyzing legislative intent, pre-dated *Miller*. Therefore, *Strawther* was at least implicitly abrogated by *Miller*.

In *People v Doss*, 406 Mich 90 (1979), this Court did not address a Double Jeopardy question, as the defendant was charged with a single count of statutory manslaughter, MCL 750.329. In *Doss*, this Court addressed the analytically distinct question of whether the statutory language “without malice” was an element of the offense that the People must prove. The Court of Appeals held that the Information should have been quashed because the People had failed to establish an essential element of the statutory offense, i.e. that the defendant acted “without malice”. *Id.* at 96-98. This Court noted that “it is manifestly impossible for an act to be at the same time malicious and free from malice” (*Id.* at 98) and that “[m]alice’ or ‘malice aforethought’ is that quality which distinguishes murder from manslaughter.” (*Id.* at 99). However, this Court held that the prosecutor is not required to prove an absence of malice, which it described as absence of an element, explaining that crimes do not have negative elements that must be proven. *Id.* at 99.

This Court’s holding in *Doss* made instinctive sense in its context of a single charge of statutory manslaughter. This Court is loath to allow the guilty to go free without punishment by asserting that the prosecution has undercharged and overproven its case. *People v Holtschlag*, 471 Mich 1, 20-21 (2004) (a defendant may not seek relief on sufficiency grounds on the basis that the prosecutor “‘over-proved’” its case by proving the defendant acted with a more culpable mens rea than charged).

However, *Doss* did not address the question of how a jury should be instructed when the defendant is charged with more than one offense and those offenses have mutually exclusive elements. What if the prosecutor in *Doss* had charged the defendant with second-degree murder and statutory manslaughter? Should the jury be informed that “[m]alice’ or ‘malice aforethought’ is that quality which distinguishes murder from manslaughter” (*Id.* at 99) or that

“it is manifestly impossible for an act to be at the same time malicious and free from malice” (*Id.* at 98)? Under the standard criminal jury instructions, Michigan jurors are not informed of the contradictory and mutually exclusive *mens rea* feature of murder and statutory manslaughter. MI Crim JI 16.11.⁹ Just as the jurors in this case were not informed of the contradictory and mutually exclusive *mens rea* feature for AWIGBH and aggravated domestic assault. (2b-6b, preliminary and final instructions on elements).

It is also not consistent with a defendant’s state and federal right to a jury trial to allow jurors to unknowingly enter contradictory and mutually exclusive verdicts, which increase the punishment imposed upon a defendant.¹⁰ US Const VI, XIV; Const 1963, art 1, § 20; see *People v Lockridge*, 498 Mich 358, 370 (2015). It is also unfair to jurors themselves, who most likely would not convict defendants of contradictory and mutually exclusive offenses if they were actually informed of the distinction. Jurors should not be duped into rendering contradictory and mutually exclusive verdicts.

⁹ MI Crim JI 16.11:

(1) [The defendant is charged with the crime of _____ / You may also consider the lesser charge of] involuntary manslaughter. To prove this charge, the prosecutor must prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(2) First, that the defendant caused the death of [name deceased], that is, [name deceased] died as a result of [state alleged act causing death].

(3) Second, that death resulted from the discharge of a firearm. [A firearm is an instrument from which (shot / a bullet) is propelled by the explosion of gunpowder.]

(4) Third, at the time the firearm went off, the defendant was pointing it at [name deceased].

(5) Fourth, at that time, the defendant intended to point the firearm at [name deceased].

[(6) Fifth, that the defendant caused the death without lawful excuse or justification.]

¹⁰ The defendant receives two sentences instead of one. Additionally, for each individual sentence the defendant stands before the court as someone having been convicted of multiple offenses which can cause the court to increase the sentence impose. It also impacts the defendant’s sentencing guidelines range via the scoring of Prior Record Variable 7 for a concurrent conviction, e.g. raising even a first time offenders prior record level from A to at least C. MCL 777.57 (PRV 7); MCL 777.61 -777.69 (sentencing grids).

SUMMARY AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Defendant-Appellee **JOEL EUSEVIO DAVIS** asks that this Honorable Court affirm the Court of Appeals' decision and remand to the trial court for appropriate relief.

Respectfully submitted,

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

/s/ Jacqueline J. McCann

BY: _____

JACQUELINE J. McCANN (P58774)
MICHAEL L. MITTLESTAT (P68478)
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellee
3300 Penobscot Building
645 Griswold
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 256-9833

Date: October 5, 2018